



# **CONTENTS**

| TA | BLES . |  | 3  |
|----|--------|--|----|
| 1  | KEY    | FACTS AT A GLANCE  | 4  |
| 2  | МО     | TIVATION   | 6  |
| 3  | CAL    | L TOPICS   | 7  |
| 4  | REC    | QUIREMENTS   | 8  |
|    | 4.1    | General Requirements for the Austrian-Chinese consortium | 8  |
|    | 4.2    | National requirements for submission of proposals        | 9  |
|    | 4.3    | Application and evaluation procedure                     | 10 |
| 6  | CAL    | L DOCUMENTS  | 14 |
| 7  | LEG    | AL BASIS   | 15 |
| 8  | ADE    | DITIONAL INFORMATION                                     | 15 |
|    | 8.1    | FFG Project Database                                     | 15 |
|    | 8.2    | Service BMK Open4Innovation                              | 16 |
|    | 8.3    | Open Access Publications                                 | 16 |
|    | 8.4    | Handling project data – data management plan             |    |
|    | 8.5    | Further Funding Options                                  | 17 |



# **TABLES**

| Table 1: Call overview  | 4  |
|---|----|
| Table 2: Timeline   |    |
| Table 3: Call Criterion "Quality of the project"              | 12 |
| Table 4: Call Criterion "Suitability of project participants" |    |
| Table 5: Call Criterion "Benefit and exploitation"            |    |
| Table 6: Call Criterion "Relevance to the Call"               |    |
| Table 7: Overview of national call documents                  |    |



## 1 KEY FACTS AT A GLANCE

This call for Austrian-Chinese cooperative R&D projects is jointly supported with funding managed by the Austrian Research Promotion Agency (FFG) on behalf of the Austrian Federal Ministry for Climate Action, Environment, Energy, Mobility, Innovation and Technology (BMK) and funding managed by the Jiangsu Science and Technology Department (JSTD). The call promotes the bilateral collaboration in application oriented research and development projects. A funding budget of EUR 1.2 MIO is available for Austrian partners. The present Call Guideline applies only to Austrian project partners. A corresponding announcement of the Chinese call for proposals has been published by JSTD on their website.

Table 1: Call overview

| Key Facts              | Information   |
|------------------------|---|
| Funding instrument     | Cooperative R&D project   |
| Research category      | Industrial research or experimental development   |
| Topics                 | <ol> <li>Intelligent and preferably regional use and production of products and infrastructure / intensifying the utilization of resources</li> <li>Prolonging the lifespan of products, components and infrastructure / intensifying the use of products</li> <li>Recycling of materials / creating systems to close material circles</li> </ol> |
| Funding amount         | min. 100,000 EUR to max. 600,000 EUR for total project duration   |
| Funding rate           | max. 85%, dependent on organisation type (see Technical Guidelines for Cooperative R&D Projects at transnational level)   |
| Duration               | 6 - 24 months   |
| Cooperation            | Yes, required   |
| Total call budget      | 1,200,000 EUR   |
| Funding provider       | вмк   |
| Submission deadline    | Proposal via FFG eCall: 11.10.2023, 12:00 C.E.S.T.  |
| Language               | English   |
| Contact                | Maria Bürgermeister-Mähr E: maria.buergermeister-maehr@ffg.at T: +43 (0)57755-5040  Michael Zimmermann E: michael.zimmermann@ffg.at T: +43 (0)57755-4905  |
| Information on the Web | https://www.ffg.at/ausschreibung/TecxportJiangsu-2023   |



The full set of application documents must be submitted in Austria via eCall by the submission deadline.

All proposals from the Chinese partners should be submitted to JSTD online via their services.

Table 2: Timeline

| Selection procedure Austria | Schedule                   |
|-----------------------------|----------------------------|
| Submission deadline         | 11.10.2023, 12:00 C.E.S.T. |
| Formal check                | October 2023               |
| Evaluation                  | 4. November 2023           |
| Funding decision            | from November 2023         |

#### Please note:

If the application does not meet the formal requirements for project submissions in accordance with the conditions and criteria of the respective funding instrument, and if the deficiencies cannot be corrected, the application will be excluded from the further procedure and will be formally rejected without exception in accordance with the principle of equal treatment of applications. The FFG's eCall system provides support in this respect, but the ultimate responsibility for compliance with the formal requirements still rests with the applicants. A detailed check list specifying the conditions and criteria of the relevant funding instrument and the call can be found at the beginning of the relevant application forms (Project Description).



## 2 MOTIVATION

\_

The aim of the call for cooperative R&D projects (later referred to as projects) is to support the jointly identified research topics with mutual interests and scientific excellence based on the existing cooperation agreement between the Austrian Federal Ministry for Climate Action, Environment, Energy, Mobility, Innovation and Technology (BMK) and the Jiangsu Science and Technology Department (JSTD). The purpose of this call is to foster the joint research cooperation between Austria and Jiangsu/China and improve the visibility of the successful collaboration between the two parties.

Projects funded in the framework of this call are intended to intensify scientific and applied research cooperation between Austrian and Chinese research organisations and companies in order to give new impulses for excellent research between the two countries. Moreover, research partners shall create a base for possible further commercial collaboration.

The participation of female scientists is particularly welcome.

#### The goals of this call are to:

- 1. Strengthen the innovation potential of internationally competitive and resilient companies
- 2. Begin or extend business collaborations with Chinese partners beyond the project
- 3. Build up research competences in at least one of the relevant topics stated in the section "call topics" of the document
- 4. Improve the access for Austrian R&D and Innovation players to national and international markets
- Support companies and R&D Institutions to network with relevant decisionmakers in the target market
- Strengthen the business and technology base in Austria and its value creation through targeted support for the marketing of Austrian technology innovations abroad



#### 3 CALL TOPICS

The topics of this call align with the principles of the <u>Austrian Circular Economy</u> Strategy.

The cooperative R&D projects must focus on one of the call topics listed below but may also address more than one of these areas:

 Intelligent and preferably regional use and production of products and infrastructure / intensifying the utilization of resources - "Refuse, Rethink, Reduce"

R&D projects in the areas of intelligent product design and process engineering must foster a reduced demand for primary resources, their substitution through secondary or renewable resources as well as the reduction of waste. The goal is the reduction of energy and resource consumption in production processes while maintaining significant product properties.

 Prolonging the lifespan of products, components and infrastructure / intensifying the use of products – "Reuse, Repair, Refurbish, Remanufacture, Repurpose"

R&D projects contribute to a significant prolongation of the product life time as well to the upgrading of product functionality through the implementation of reuse, repair, refurbish, remanufacture and repurpose strategies. Innovative business models may be part of projects that contribute to this goal.

Recycling of materials / creating systems to close material circles – "Recycling, Recover"

R&D projects explore, develop and test systemic innovations which contribute to the conservation of value of products through their whole life-cycle. While developing innovative circular systems, the participation of stakeholders of the whole supply chain (manufacturers, logistics, end-user and waste management etc.) is crucial and has to be considered by the projects either by integrating them in the project consortium or through involving experts of the respective fields.

In addition to the call topics, all submitted project proposals must consider the availability of adequate resources, especially including secondary and waste materials, for the developed processes and products. Furthermore, considerations regarding the impact of the project on the United Nations Sustainability Goals (SDGs) have to be made.



## 4 REQUIREMENTS

\_

## 4.1 General Requirements for the Austrian-Chinese consortium

This call shall bring together research capacities from Austrian and Chinese research institutions and companies. The Technical Guidelines for Cooperative R&D projects at transnational level apply to this call. Cooperative R&D Projects are defined as being carried out by at least two consortium partners working together on a common R&D project. The special characteristics of this call and deviations from the relevant guidelines are described below.

# In addition to the requirements of the Technical Guideline for Cooperative R&D Projects at Transnational Level the following criteria must be met:

- The consortium shall consist of at least one company from Austrian and one company from Jiangsu as lead organisations. Both organisations must be independent from each other.
- The cooperation between the Chinese and Austrian cooperative units should be basically balanced.
- Collaborative research projects will be supported for a period of 6 24 month.
- The consortium can also involve research organisations in addition to the obligatory company partners.
- In addition to that, a collaboration with other non-commercial institutions is possible. In this case, the requirements to the consortium still have to be fulfilled.
- Individual companies account for a maximum of 70% of the eligible project costs, with shares of affiliated companies counting as one company.
- Research institution(s) bear(s) at least 10% and a maximum of 80% of the eligible costs (relates to the total share of Austrian and Chinese research institutions).
- Contract research and research services do not apply as cooperation in the sense of a cooperative R&D project.
- Researchers of both countries should contribute equally to the competence of the partnership. In the partnership, researchers of the participating organisations work on a defined research project, which is divided into coordinated work packages designed to reach a common research goal. The proposal provides sufficient level of skill, equipment and manpower capabilities necessary to work on the defined research project.
- The project shall be managed jointly by an Austrian and a Chinese Applicant.
- Research institutions shall be entitled to publish the results of the research carried out by the respective institution(s).
- The results of the research shall be shared by the participating Austrian and Chinese researchers.



- All Austrian and Chinese partners involved in the project have to conclude a Consortium Agreement on issues such as intellectual property rights, liability and confidentiality. Specifically the following must be included:
  - The applicant must ensure that the bilateral projects submitted are not aimed at developing weapons or violence-promoting products.
  - The applicant must ensure that the bilateral projects submitted are not aimed at gambling of any kind (i.e. games in which the outcome is determined exclusively or predominantly by chance).
  - Any other commercial and/or export restrictions currently in place must be observed.

The payment of funding depends on compliance with these requirements. This **Consortium Agreement**, signed by all partners, has to be provided to FFG before the respective **national funding contract** is signed.

Funding will be provided to each partner by the corresponding national funding agency according to the respective rules.

- Austrian partners and Chinese partners may cover their costs by own funds and/or grants provided by Austria or China.
- Any other commercial and/or export restrictions currently in place must be observed.
- The Joint Proposal submitted to FFG and JSTD must be identical. In the event of deviations, FFG reserves the right to reject the proposal for formal reasons.

#### 4.2 National requirements for submission of proposals

The call is addressed to Austrian technology providers. The target group are manufacturing companies and commercial service providers as well as application-oriented research institutions that have appropriate technology offers or technology-related services and are internationally oriented.

International orientation of the supported companies and corresponding capacity for (subsequent) technology export activities are important.

The following requirements shall apply to submissions by Austrian participants in addition to the general requirements specified in Chapter 4.1 (above):

- Austrian applicants must specifically outline how the project will support
  positioning in China as well as provide specific exploitation strategies. This has to
  be addressed in proposal chapter 5.1 Relevance. In addition, applicants must
  submit a draft market penetration concept (max. 2 pages). Letter(s) of intent
  (LOI) for collaboration can optionally be submitted as well.
- Furthermore Austrian applicants must show the contribution the project will make to increase the value added in Austria. This has to be addressed in proposal chapter 5.1 Relevance.



# The following provisions apply in deviation from the Technical Guidelines for Cooperative R&D Projects at Transnational Level:

- At least one Austrian company must participate in the Austrian-Chinese consortium.
- The Austrian company must be the Austrian consortium leader.
- Austrian research institutions may together not exceed 50% of the person month of the Austrian partners within the consortium.
- The amount of funding requested by the Austrian partners must be between 100,000 EUR to max 600,000 EUR.
- Companies are eligible to apply if they have a permanent establishment or branch (according to Council Directive 2011/96/EU of 30 November 2011, in conjunction with Art. 11 (5) a GBER, No. 651/2014 of 17 June 2014) in Austria at the time of submission of the application and payment of funding.
  - Art. 2 (b): 'Permanent establishment' means a fixed place of business situated in a Member State through which the business of a company of another Member State is wholly or partly carried on in so far as the profits of that place of business are subject to tax in the Member State in which it is situated by virtue of the relevant bilateral tax treaty or, in the absence of such a treaty, by virtue of national law;
  - Art. 3 (1) Definition of parent company and subsidiary.
- The EUR-CNY conversion rate of the European Central Bank ECB at the date of submission shall apply. This can either be the reference date specified in the proposal or the conversion rate provided by the ECBECB on a monthly basis. The rate must be specified in the proposal. The conversion rate shall apply for the duration of the project and for all reports related thereto.
- The participation and financing of additional international partners in the consortium shall be excluded in this bilateral call in deviation from the provisions of the Technical Guidelines. Organisations from outside Austria or China may be involved as sub-contractors of Austrian partners.

FFG will check whether the Austrian project part is properly allocated to the research category of 'Industrial Research' or 'Experimental Development' based on the Project Description. This may involve a reduction in the funding rate.

## 4.3 Application and evaluation procedure

The **full set of Austrian application documents must be submitted electronically** to FFG via <u>eCall</u> within the Austrian submission deadline.

Chinese partners are asked to submit their applications to JSTD. Rules for submission and funding are communicated by JSTD.

Each proposal must follow the regulations of the respective agency. Proposals failing to fulfil all formal requirements and unilateral applications will be rejected. The



**content** of the proposals submitted to FFG and JSTD **must be consistent**. A **common short title** must be chosen for the Austrian and the Chinese proposal.

The Austrian proposal must indicate all Austrian and all Chinese project partners, must clearly lay down the division of work between the partners and must indicate all Austrian and Chinese project costs.

The proposals will be **evaluated by the respective funding agencies** involved following the respective national evaluation procedures and criteria. A project will be recommended for funding if both involved funding agencies achieve a positive evaluation result.

The **final funding decision** is made by the Management Board of FFG on the basis of the funding recommendations of the evaluation panels in Austria and Jiangsu. JSTD is responsible for the funding decision for the Chinese partners.



## 5 FUNDING CRITERIA

Applications for funding are evaluated according to 4 criteria:

- 1. Quality of the project
- 2. Suitability of project participants
- 3. Benefit and exploitation
- 4. Relevance to the call

The tables below show the relevant sub-criteria. In the course of the assessment, points will be assigned to each criterion. Projects not reaching the stated threshold value for a certain criterion will be rejected. Reaching zero points in one of the sub criteria of the 4th criteria "Relevance to the Call" the project will be rejected as well.

Table 3: Call Criterion "Quality of the project"

| 1. Quality of the project (threshold = 18 points)  | Max.<br>points<br>30 |
|--|----------------------|
| 1.1 To what extent does the <b>innovation content</b> of the project exceed the state of the art, existing products, services, processes or existing knowledge?  | 10                   |
| 1.2 Have the project goals been clearly defined and can they be realistically achieved?  Are the approaches suitable for achieving the goals of the individual work packages?  Have the risks in the work packages been adequately addressed and corresponding measures provided?  | 5                    |
| 1.3 Quality of planning: Is the structure of the work packages and the associated division of work adequate for the goals of the project?  Is the overall planning adequate for achieving the project goals?   | 5                    |
| <ul> <li>1.4 If the content of the project and the research results affect people: To what extent have gender-specific topics been taken into account in the planning process? <ul> <li>Quality of the analysis of the gender-specific topics</li> <li>Consideration in the methodological approach of the project</li> </ul> </li> <li>(more information can be found <a href="fg.at/gender">ffg.at/gender</a>)</li> <li>Projects in which content and focus have no gender relevance according to this analysis will score full points in this subcategory.</li> </ul> | 5                    |



| 1. Quality of the project (threshold = 18 points)   | Max.<br>points<br>30 |
|---|----------------------|
| <ul> <li>1.5 To what extent does the project take into account sustainability goals (ecological, social, economic), in particular in terms of climate neutrality?         <ul> <li>How is sustainability, in particular climate neutrality, taken into account in the planning and implementation of the project and is the methodological approach chosen adequate?</li> </ul> </li> <li>(more information can be found on <a href="fg.at/nachhaltigkeit-kriterien">fg.at/nachhaltigkeit-kriterien</a>)</li> </ul> | 5                    |

Table 4: Call Criterion "Suitability of project participants"

| 2. Suitability of project participants (threshold = 12 points)   | Max.<br>points<br>20 |
|--|----------------------|
| 2.1 Does the consortium have the necessary subject-specific and management <b>skills and qualifications</b> and the skills required to achieve the sustainability goals? | 8                    |
| 2.2 Does the project plan provide sufficient and appropriate <b>resources</b> for the planned implementation?  | 8                    |
| 2.3 Does the composition of the project team reflect the aim to improve the gender <b>balance</b> in the sector?   | 4                    |

Table 5: Call Criterion "Benefit and exploitation"

| 3. Benefit and exploitation (threshold = 18 points)  | Max.<br>points<br>30 |
|--|----------------------|
| 3.1 What is the benefit of the project for the target group(s) (e.g. users, customers, contracting authorities) and what are the impacts and effects (positive and negative) of the project in terms of sustainability (social, ecological, economic), in particular in terms of climate neutrality? | 12                   |
| 3.2 What is the <b>benefit of the project for the project participants</b> (e.g. in terms of expanding R&D capacities, opening up new fields of business etc.)? How concrete, transparent and complete are the <b>exploitation strategy and the exploitation potential</b> ?                         | 18                   |

Table 6: Call Criterion "Relevance to the Call"

| 4. Relevance to the Call (threshold = 12 points)   | Max.<br>points<br>20 |
|--|----------------------|
| 4.1 How relevant/important is the project in terms of achieving the <b>call objectives</b> ? Does the project sufficiently and adequately address the <b>call topic</b> ?  | 15                   |
| 4.2 What is the <b>incentive effect</b> of the funding? To what extent will the funding help to implement the project at all and/or within a shorter timeframe, and/or with higher ambition, and/or in a larger scope? | 5                    |



## 6 CALL DOCUMENTS

The full set of Austrian application documents must be submitted via <a href="ecclusive-call">eCall</a> as part of the electronic application. The cost plan must show the project costs broken down to work package level. This also applies to accounts rendered as part of the reporting process. Applicants are requested to use the specific templates provided for the submission of their projects. The funding conditions, application procedure and funding criteria are described in the corresponding Technical Guidelines and Call guidelines (present document).

Table 7: Overview of national call documents

| Additional documents for Austrian participants | Documents in detail   |
|--|---|
| National Call<br>Documents                     | <ul> <li>Call Guideline for Austrian Applicants (present document, Version 1.0)</li> </ul>  |
|  | <ul> <li>Technical Guidelines for Cooperative R&amp;D</li> <li>Projects at Transnational Level (Version 3.5)</li> <li>Declaration of SME Status</li> <li>Cost guideline (eligibility of costs in FFG projects)</li> </ul> |
| Transnational                                  | Call Fiche (Joint Call guidelines FFG and JSTD)   |
| documents                                      | <ul> <li>Joint proposal (FFG-Jiangsu Bilateral Cooperation<br/>Form 2023 –Application)</li> </ul>   |
| Application form                               | Project proposal template (available in Downloadcenter)   |
|  | <ul> <li>Declaration on SME status (if required)<sup>1</sup></li> </ul>   |
| General Cost regulations                       | <ul> <li>Cost guideline 2.2 (eligibility of costs in FFG projects)</li> </ul>   |
| Download                                       | <ul> <li>https://www.ffg.at/ausschreibung/TecxportJiangsu-<br/>2023</li> </ul>  |

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> If there is no information available in the Austrian Business Compass (e.g. for associations and start-ups), a Declaration of SME Status must be provided upon submission of the proposal. In the template provided by the FFG, applicants must (as far as possible) categorise their business for the last three years according to the SME definition.



#### 7 LEGAL BASIS

The **final funding decision** is made by the Management Board of FFG on the basis of the funding recommendations of the evaluation panels in Austria and Jiangsu.

Legal Basis for this call are the Guidelines for the Austrian Research Promotion Agency to promote research, technology, development and innovation to deal with social challenges (<u>FFG missions guidelines</u>).

For a definition of SME – small and medium sized enterprises – see the applicable SME definition under EU competition law. Further information is available on the <a href="ME-webpage">SME-webpage</a> of FFG.

All EU regulations are to be applied as amended.

## 8 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

\_\_\_

This section contains information about additional funding options and services which you may find useful in connection with funding applications or funded projects.

#### 8.1 FFG Project Database

The public access FFG Project Database (provides the opportunity to publish brief information about funded projects and an overview of the project partners involved. This enables you to present your project and your project partners to the interested public. The database can also be used to search for cooperation partners.

Once funding is granted, the applicants are informed via eCall that they can publish brief defined information about their project in the FFG Project Database. The information will only be published if active consent is given in the eCall system.

For more information see the FAQs to the Project Database.



## 8.2 Service BMK Open4Innovation

The <u>open4innovation</u> platform of the Federal Ministry for Climate Action, Environment, Energy, Mobility, Innovation and Technology (BMK) offers an additional knowledge base for companies and researchers (community support, detailed information, success stories, etc.).

## 8.3 Open Access Publications

The research results obtained with public funding are to be exploited in the best possible way for science, industry and society. In this sense, open access should be strived for as far as possible in peer-reviewed publications that are created with the support of the funding awarded by the Austrian Research Promotion Agency (FFG). The principle of "as open as possible, as closed as necessary" also applies to European funding.

Publication costs are included in the eligible project costs.

## 8.4 Handling project data – data management plan

A data management plan (DMP) is a tool that supports the efficient and systematic management of all data generated throughout the duration of a project.

DMPs can be created, e.g., using the free tool <u>DMP Online</u>. The "<u>Guidelines on FAIR Data Management</u>" of the European Commission also provide assistance in this respect.

A data management plan describes

- which data are collected, processed or generated within a project
- how these data are handled within the project
- what methods and standards are applied
- how the data are stored and updated over the long term and
- whether it is planned to make datasets available to third parties for reuse (i.e., open access to research data)

In the event of publication, the data should be "findable, accessible, interoperable and reusable". Storing data in established and internationally recognised repositories (see the re3data website) is recommended to ensure broad access.



# 8.5 Further Funding Options

Are you interested in other FFG funding opportunities?

The **Funding Service** is the central point of contact for your inquiries about FFG funding and consulting services. Contact us, we will be happy to advise you!

Contact: FFG Funding Service, T: +43 (0) 57755-0, E: <a href="mailto:foetherservice@ffg.at">foetherservice@ffg.at</a>

Web: <u>Förderservice</u>

Further FFG funding opportunities can be found <a href="here">here</a>.